# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,367

GREGORY MILLS,

Appellant,

v.

۲

۲

þ

۲

ſ

2

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Fla. Bar No. 0125540

GAIL E. ANDERSON Assistant CCR Fla. Bar No. 0841544

TODD G. SCHER Staff Attorney Fla. Bar No. 0899641

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Mills was convicted of first-degree murder and related offenses in the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, Seminole County, Florida. Mr. Mills' jury recommended he be sentenced to life imprisonment, but the judge overrode that recommendation and imposed death. On direct appeal, this Court struck three<sup>1</sup> of the six aggravating factors which the trial court had found. The offense was committed during a burglary, when the decedent surprised the burglar. The decedent died as a result of one gunshot. Codefendant Ashley "received immunity from prosecution for this crime and other crimes in exchange for his testimony" against Mr. Mills. <u>Mills</u>, 476 So. 2d at 180 (McDonald, J., dissenting as to sentence); <u>see also id</u>. at 176 (majority opinion).

Affirming the trial court's ruling that no mitigating circumstances had been established, the Court upheld the override. <u>See Mills v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d at 179 ("There are three valid statutory aggravating circumstances, and the trial judge has found that there are no valid mitigating circumstances"). Apparently because of the Court's affirmance of the ruling that no valid mitigating factors had been presented at sentencing, the Court also did not remand for further consideration after striking three of the aggravating factors.

Mr. Mills filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. Among other grounds, he presented a claim (supported by affidavits and other documentary evidence) that his defense counsel failed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court struck "pecuniary gain" as improperly doubled, <u>Mills</u>, 476 So. 2d at 178; "heinous, atrocious or cruel" as not valid on the facts of this case, <u>id</u>. at 178; and also held that "[t]he finding that Mills knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons was, as the state concedes, erroneous." <u>Mills</u>, 476 So. 2d at 178 (citation omitted).

The remaining aggravators were "under sentence of imprisonment" because Mr. Mills was on parole at the time of the offense. <u>Mills</u>, 476 So. 2d at 178. (In the Rule 3.850 proceedings Mr. Mills presented evidence indicating that he had in fact completed his parole but that his trial counsel had not investigated this issue. The trial court declined to hold a hearing on this issue, and this Court did not later order that a hearing thereon be held.) The other two remaining aggravators were "previous [felony] conviction," <u>Mills</u>, 476 So. 2d at 178, and that the offense was committed "in the course of a burglary." <u>Id</u>.

reasonably investigate and prepare for sentencing and that because of the unique circumstances of this case the proper investigation and development of mitigation was not conducted. The Rule 3.850 motion alleged that as a result of the failure to investigate, no mental health evaluation of Gregory Mills was obtained, and no effort was undertaken to develop mitigating evidence related to Mr. Mills' mental health impairments. The Rule 3.850 motion also alleged that substantial information was available indicating the need for a mental health evaluation: reports, evaluations, and testing conducted before the offense, while Mr. Mills was incarcerated as a juvenile, all indicated mental health problems; Mr. Mills' history included his premature birth to an anemic and alcoholic mother, and included severe head injuries; prior evaluators and the staff at the jail prescribed Mellaril; Mr. Mills' records reflected fainting spells, seizures, and headaches; a prior MMPI related "psychiatric" problems; motions filed by the public defender in other cases involving Mr. Mills spoke to his memory problems; and Mr. Mills has a three inch scar on his head.

The trial court summarily denied relief. This Court granted a stay of execution and remanded for an evidentiary hearing, finding that the facts pled, if established at a hearing, would warrant relief:

In that [3.850] motion Mills claimed that his counsel rendered ineffective assistance by not developing and presenting evidence of his mental impairment and deficiency in an attempt to mitigate his sentence ... [W]e find that a hearing on this issue is needed. Therefore, we direct the trial court to hold an evidentiary hearing in regards to counsel's failure to develop and present evidence that would tend to establish statutory or nonstatutory mental mitigating circumstances.

Mills v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 578-579 (Fla. 1990).

At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Mills presented the testimony of the former attorneys, two mental health experts, family and other individuals who knew Mr. Mills, and other witnesses; he also presented reports, affidavits, evaluations, and other documentary evidence from HRS, school, juvenile, incarceration and other records which defense counsel had never obtained. The State presented no rebuttal.

The circuit court denied relief (R. 1057-58), and Mr. Mills appealed (R. 1059). The facts presented at the evidentiary hearing are discussed in the Argument section of this brief.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court directed that a hearing be held "in regards to counsel's failure to develop and present evidence that would tend to establish statutory or nonstatutory mental mitigating circumstances." Mills v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 578, 579 (Fla. 1990). At that hearing all the evidence, including the testimony of each of the attorneys involved at trial and sentencing, conclusively established that there was no tactical or strategic reason for counsel's failure to develop and present evidence of mental health mitigating factors. The evidence at the hearing also established that facts were available upon which reasonable counsel would investigate and develop such evidence, and, as each attorney testified, that such evidence should have been developed and presented in this case. The evidence further established that without a tactic or strategy, no attorney investigated and that, had reasonable investigation of Mr. Mills' mental health been undertaken and an evaluation sought, statutory and nonstatutory mitigating mental health factors would have been presented. The omission undermines confidence in the result of the judge's decision to override the jury and this Court's decision affirming the override after striking three aggravating factors on direct appeal. The mental health mitigating evidence in this case, which each attorney testified should have been developed and presented and which would have been if not for the unique circumstances which undermined proper defense preparation in this case, is compelling and is of the type which this Court has consistently held to establish a reasonable basis precluding a jury override. Mr. Mills has established that relief is appropriate.

#### ARGUMENT

## GREGORY MILLS' CLAIM WARRANTS THE GRANTING OF RELIEF.

The evidence presented to the circuit court conclusively establishes Mr. Mills' entitlement to relief. Based upon the record of the Rule 3.850

hearing, there can be no dispute that no attorney investigated in preparation for Mr. Mills' penalty phase or judge sentencing, that no attorney had a tactical or strategic reason for failing to investigate, that no attorney obtained any records regarding Mr. Mills, that no attorney interviewed Mr. Mills or his family members regarding mental health issues, and that no attorney obtained a mental health evaluation of Mr. Mills or had a tactical or strategic reason for failing to do so. There also can be no dispute that evidence of substantial mental health mitigation was available and that the attorneys would have presented such evidence if they had had it. Finally, there can be no dispute that the evidence presented at the hearing, unrebutted by the State, established statutory and nonstatutory mental health mitigation which would have provided more than a reasonable basis for the jury's life recommendation. The State cannot point to anything in the record to the contrary, and the circuit court erred in denying relief.

#### A. EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT THE HEARING

.

- 1. The Evidence Presented at the Hearing Establishes That Trial Counsel Conducted No Investigation for the Penalty Phase.
  - a. Trial Counsel's Testimony

Mr. Mills was represented by two attorneys during his capital proceedings. Assistant Public Defender Thomas Greene conducted the guilt phase. Special Assistant Public Defender Joan Bickerstaff conducted the penalty phase before the jury. Mr. Greene returned for the judge sentencing.

Neither Mr. Greene nor Ms. Bickerstaff investigated evidence in mitigation. As he testified below, Mr. Greene's sole responsibility was for the guilty phase (R. 7, 30); his responsibility ended once Mr. Mills was found guilt (R. 8, 19). Ms. Bickerstaff was contacted by the Public Defender's Office on a Saturday, the day after the guilt phase ended, and asked to conduct the penalty phase, which was to be held on Monday, two days away (R. 40). Prior to that Saturday, Ms. Bickerstaff had had no involvement in Mr. Mills' case (Id.).

At the hearing, attorney Thomas Greene testified:

Q. Can you relate to us briefly what your duties were? What you understood your duties to be as to Mr. Mills' case?

A. All cases assigned to Judge Woodson at the time were my responsibility as far as trying those cases including first degree murder cases.

Mr. Mills was charged with that. He was on Judge Woodson's docket. Therefore, I was responsible for his case.

Q. Now, at the time of the proceedings in Mr. Mills' case, did you understand yourself to have any responsibility as far as a potential penalty phase in the proceedings?

A. No.

Q. Can you tell me how that transpired from when the guilty verdict came in to the jury portion of what your involvement then became?

A. As I indicated, once the verdict came in, which in this case was guilty, my involvement or responsibility in this case ended.

## (R. 8).

D

D

D,

Q. And was that your understanding throughout your representation of Mr. Mills?

A. Yes.

# (R. 9).

Q. Is it fair to say that throughout the course of your representation of Mr. Mills, that you did not believe that either you yourself was responsible for the sentencing?

A. I knew I was not responsible for the sentencing.

# (R. 30).

Ms. Bickerstaff testified at the hearing:

Q. Can you tell us how it is that you know Mr. Mills?

A. Back in August of 1979, I represented Mr. Mills in the [sentencing] phase of the first degree murder trial in Seminole County.

Q. The jury sentencing portion of Mr. Mills' case occurred on August 20th, 1979.

Do you have any reason to dispute that date?

A. No.

Q. The record so reflect[s].

A. No, I don't have any reason to dispute it.

Q. And do you recall what the day of the week that was?

A. It was a Monday.

Q. Do you recall when you were first contacted concerning Mr. Mills' case?

A. I received a telephone call about the case on Saturday morning of the two days preceding that date.

I quess it would have been the eighteenth.

Q. Prior to that telephone call, had you had any involvement whatsoever in Mr. Mills' case?

A. No.

Q. [C] an you tell me what happened with the phone call?

A. Bennett Ford, who was an Assistant Public Defender with the Seminole Office for the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit called me and asked me if I would be willing to handle the penalty phase portion of Mr. Mills case.

And he told me that Mr. Mills had just been convicted of first degree murder, and that he needed me to do the capital punishment phase.

Q. Do you recall specifically what you may have said to Mr. Ford during that conversation?

A. I was kind of reluctant to get involved in the case at that point because I didn't know anything about it.

And Mr. Ford told me that the sentencing phase of the case was to go forward in two days, starting on Monday.

I had not participated in any capacity. I had no knowledge about any of the proceedings that had happened during the guilty and innocence phase of the trial.

My understanding was that there was no transcript that would be made available to me so that I could review it, and I felt like two days was a woefully inadequate period of time in order to prepare for that type of a serious event. But Mr. Ford indicated to me that it was a really great need.

(R. 40-42).

D

D.

Q. When was the first time that you actually met Mr. Mills?

A. I met him at the Sanford Jail the morning of the penalty phase hearing on August 20th.

Q. Now when Mr. Ford contacted you and [at] the commencement of the jury penalty phase, what kind of information did you review concerning Mr. Mills?

A. Mostly I asked Mr. Ford for information about what had occurred during the trial.

And I got a summary, verbal summary from him of what the nature of the defense was, what the evidence was that had been presented by the State and by the Defendant and general information of that nature.

I did not have any documents pertaining to the case. I did not review any pleadings. I did not have a file.

(R. 42-43) (emphasis added).

The penalty phase before the jury occurred on August 20, 1979. The judge sentencing occurred on April 18, 1980. During that eight month period, both Mr. Greene and Ms. Bickerstaff believed they had no responsibility for Mr. Mills' case. Mr. Greene testified:

Q. Now, subsequent to the jury sentencing phase there was a judicial sentencing phase before Judge Woodson, do you recall that?

A. I do.

Q. And you appeared at the judge's sentencing phase?

A. I did.

Q. Let me ask you a few questions about that first.

Chronologically between the jury sentencing portion of Mr. Mills' case and the judge's sentencing, did you do any investigation in preparation or development of mitigating factors, statutory or nonstatutory?

A. No.

Đ

Q. Did you understand yourself to have any responsibility for sentencing between the jury sentencing phase and the later judicial sentencing phase?

A. I had no responsibility.

\* \* \*

Q. Between [jury sentencing and judge sentencing], did you have any involvement whatsoever in Mr. Mills' case?

A. Not that I'm aware of.

(R. 9-10). Ms. Bickerstaff testified:

Q. After the conclusion of jury penalty phase, did you have any involvement with Mr. Mills' case?

A. No.

Q. Can you tell me what happened, why that is so?

A. I don't really know. Judge Woodson indicated at the conclusion of the testimony portion after the jury had brought back their advisory verdict that he was taking the matter under advisement and I didn't hear anything further.

I was not contacted by Mr. Greene or by Mr. Ford or notified when the sentencing date had been set.

And I found out after the fact when Mr. Mills was sentenced.

Q. Had you -- had anybody ever contacted you; Mr. Greene, for example, and asked you about what transpired at the jury sentencing?

A. No. Mr. Greene was not present during the advisory penalty phase, and I never spoke to him afterwards about the testimony that had been presented except in a general way.

I had a meeting with him and with Mr. Ford after the advisory verdict had been rendered, and it was more in the nature of celebrating the victory of having obtained a recommendation of life from the jury, but there was no in-depth discussion of what the witnesses had testified to or how the hearing had been conducted.

Q. And that meeting, was that the evening after the jury recommended a life sentence?

A. Yes.

Q. And it was sort of an informal --

A. It was very informal. It was a little tavern outside -- outskirts of Sanford.

Q. Had you been contacted by Mr. Greene or anyone else and asked to relay information concerning the jury sentencing or to assist with the judge sentencing, is there any reason why you would not have done that?

A. No.

ŧ

(R. 60-62). Ms. Bickerstaff further testified, "Basically my role in the case ended after the advisory jury verdict was rendered" (R. 63).

As a result of Mr. Greene's understanding of his responsibilities and Ms. Bickerstaff's late and limited involvement in Mr. Mills' case, neither attorney conducted any investigation regarding evidence of mitigating factors. Mr. Greene did no investigation of mitigation (R. 8), made no effort to develop statutory mental health mitigation (R. 12), never had Mr. Mills evaluated by a mental health expert (<u>id</u>.), did not obtain Mr. Mills' juvenile records, youth services records, or school records (R. 13-14), did not obtain prior mental health evaluations or pre-sentence investigation reports regarding Mr. Mills (R. 19-21), did not obtain prior personality testing of Mr. Mills (R. 24), and did not ask Mr. Mills or his family members about any prior mental health problems Mr. Mills had experienced (R. 26). Ms. Bickerstaff first met Mr. Mills on the morning of the penalty phase (R. 42), and did not ask Mr. Mills about past mental health evaluations (R. 43), because the meeting was "very short" (R. 44). She did not spend enough time with Mr. Mills to independently determine if mental health was a potential issue (R. 45). Ms. Bickerstaff did not review any HRS, juvenile or mental health reports regarding Mr. Mills (R. 45, 49, 52), did not look at files in the Public Defender's Office of other cases involving Mr. Mills (R. 46), conducted only a "sketchy" interview of Mr. Mills' sister in the hallway before the penalty phase began (R. 46), never asked any witness about mental health issues (R. 49), and made no effort to develop statutory or nonstatutory mental health mitigation (R. 54).

At the hearing, Mr. Greene testified:

Q. Now, prior to Mr. Mill's [sic] trial, did you conduct any investigation, any development, any preparation in terms of mitigating factors statutory or nonstatutory?

A. No.

Q. Did you conduct any preparation in terms of eliciting evidence to challenge aggravating factors?

A. No.

Q. In terms of Mr. Mills' jury sentencing, did you conduct any investigation, any preparation or any efforts as far as mitigating factors were concerned?

A. No.

Q. Did you attend the [penalty] portion of Mr. Mill's case?

A. I did not.

(R. 7-8).

Q. Did you yourself speak to any witness concerning [the judge] sentencing proceeding prior to April 18th, 1980?

A. I may have talked to the witness that was called either that day or maybe the day before.

Q. And that witness was a witness by the name of Diannetta, Mr. Mills' sister?

A. Right.

Q. And that was in fact other than Mr. Mills the only witness who testified at the judicial sentencing?

A. That's correct.

Q. Do you recall how much of an opportunity you had to discuss things with her; was it a limited thing, a lengthy thing?

A. I have no recollection of it, but I would presume it would have been relatively short.

Q. Did you yourself subpoena her to come to the proceeding? Do you know why she came to the proceeding?

A. I'd have to look at the file to see if she was subpoenaed. But my understanding was that she was not.

Q. If she were to testify she came to the proceeding of her own accord, would you have any reason to tell us that's not accurate?

A. No, that sounds -- she may have been called, but -- and came voluntarily.

(R. 9-11). Mr. Greene further related:

Q. During the course of your representation of Mr. Mills, was there any effort on your part to develop evidence concerning statutory mental health [mitigation] testimony?

A. No.

Q. Are you aware of what the statutory mitigating factors are in Florida, statutory mitigating factors?

A. I am.

Q. Was there a tactical or strategic reason for not presenting statutory, mitigating factors in Mr. Mills' case.

A. No, not that I'm aware of.

Q. Did you ever ask a mental health practitioner, whether a psychologist or neuropsychologist or psychiatrist, to evaluate Mr. Mills?

A. No.

Q. Was there a tactical or strategic reasoning for not asking [that] Mr. Mills be examined?

A. No.

Q. And the same questions I just asked you concerning nonstatutory mitigating factors. Did you ever consider if development of nonstatutory mitigating factors [should] enter Mr. Mills' case?

A. No.

Q. Was there a tactical or strategic reason for that?

A. No, that I'm aware of.

(R. 11-13).

Q. Now if you recall, [it] was Joan Bickerstaff that did the jury penalty portion of the case?

A. That's correct.

\* \* \*

Q. [D]id you yourself discuss with Miss Bickerstaff after the jury sentencing what it was that she put on and argued before Judge Woodson?

A. I don't think so.

Q. Do you recall having any interaction with Miss Bickerstaff in this case?

A. No, I don't think I even knew who she was.

(R. 28-29). As to developing evidence for the judge, Mr. Greene additionally testified:

Q. And were you aware at the time of the judicial sentencing or prior to that, that evidence of mitigation which would form a reasonable basis [for] the jury's recommendation would preclude [an override] whether by the judge or then later on?

A. I was aware of that.

Q. In this particular case, prior to April 18th, 198[0], prior of the -- at the actual judge sentencing, did you develop mitigating evidence of a mental health or of another nature in Mr. Mills' case?

A. No. As I indicated to you, once the verdict was over, my responsibility in this case ended.

I went back to trying cases in front of Judge Woodson on a regular docket, and it was not my responsibility to do anything else on Mr. Mills' case, period.

Q. And did you have any involvement whatsoever?

A. No.

(R. 18-19).

D

D

B

D

Þ

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