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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Neither penalty phase counsel nor sentencing counsel was deficient in failing to pursue mental health issues. There was nothing from Mills' behavior or the circumstances of the crime to indicate psychological problems. Prior evaluations contained only negative information which would have prejudiced the jury against Mills rather than persuade them to recommend life. Mills received a life recommendation as a result of an argument which appealed to the jurors' emotions. If the jury had been given evidence that Mills had organic brain damage and was unable to control his behavior they would not have recommended life. Furthermore, the State would have been able to present testimony regarding Mills' crimes two weeks prior to the murder which were not impulsive or uncontrollable. Penalty phase counsel presented Mills as redeemable and as having a potential for rehabilitation, not as a violent brain-damaged criminal. The trial judge had evidence of Mills' psychiatric problems and family history when Mills was sentenced, although in a different form. The presently proffered testimony would not have persuaded the trial judge to follow the jury recommendation.

ARGUMENT

NEITHER PENALTY PHASE NOR SENTENCING COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO INVESTIGATE MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES.

of counsel, to be ineffective assistance claim of Α considered meritorious, must include two general components. First, a claimant must identify particular acts or omissions of the lawyer that are shown to be outside the broad range of reasonably competent performance under prevailing professional Second, the clear, substantial deficiency shown must standards. further be demonstrated to have so affected the fairness and reliability of the proceeding that confidence in the outcome is undermined. Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912, 913-14 (Fla. 1989), citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986).

A claimant asserting ineffective counsel bears a heavy He must first identify the specific omission and show burden. that counsel's performance falls outside the wide range of reasonable assistance. In determining whether this has occurred, courts must eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight by evaluating the performance from counsel's perspective at the time and must grant a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. The burden is on the claimant to show that counsel was ineffective. Having demonstrated inadequate performance, the claimant must then show severe that there is а reasonable effect so adverse an probability that the results would have been different except for

- 9 -

the inadequate performance. <u>Cave v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 293, 297 (Fla. 1988). Thus, the two components Mills must prove are 1) deficient performance and 2) prejudice.

1. Deficient performance. Mills claims Mr. Greene and Ms. Bickerstaff were deficient in failing to investigate mental health issues since "facts were available upon which reasonable counsel would investigate and develop such evidence" (Initial Brief at 3). Mills claims there was no tactical or strategic reason for failing to investigate. According to Mills, both Ms. Bickerstaff (who obtained a life recommendation from the jury), and Mr. Greene (who conducted sentencing) were ineffective for failing to obtain Mills' juvenile records, prior mental health evaluations or presentence investigation reports, or ask Mills' family members about prior mental health problems.

The evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing to self-serving testimony support these claims was from Ms. Bickerstaff, Mr. Ford and Mr. Greene, prior reports by Dr. Austin and Dr. Fumero attached to a pre-sentence investigation, a scar on Mills' head, MMPI test results from Mills' juvenile record, and testimony by Dr. Dee and Dr. Carbonell that, according to recent evaluations, Mills had organic brain damage (R 120, 235). Mills also presented a speedy trial motion filed in another case which argued he was prejudiced by the eight to nine month delay in prosecution since he could not remember where he was at the time of the crime (R 142). Family members testified about two childhood accidents during which Mills hit his head diving into the St. Johns River and ran into a concrete post at a stadium.

- 10 -

During Mr. Greene's testimony it was brought out that he was aware of Mills' prior record (R 14), had no reason to suspect insanity or incompetency (R 26, 31), and consulted Mills regarding strategy (R 31). The trial strategy was that Mills was innocent. Mills, supra, 476 So.2d at 175. He did not recall a scar on Mill's head (R 14).² If he saw the PSI, it was at sentencing (R 21). He did argue impaired capacity to the trial judge based on Mill's prior record and deprived environment (ROA 930, R 27). Mr. Greene testified at the evidentiary hearing the mental health evaluations could have meshed the two theories together as far as why his record was so bad (R 28). Although, with the benefit of hindsight, he now proclaims the information attached to the PSI should have triggered an evaluation, hindsight vision is not the test for ineffectiveness. Routly v. State, 16 F.L.W. S676, 679 n.4 (Fla. Oct. 17, 1991); Kelley v. State, 569 So.2d 754, 761 (Fla. 1990). Furthermore, the evaluations of Dr. Austin and Dr. Fumero contained only negative information. Dr. Austin's report states that Mills had no interest in rehabilitation, was in complete contact with reality, realizes the seriousness of his situation but had no motivation to work toward helping himself. The biggest motivating force in his life was anger (R 1131)³. Dr. Austin's impression was that:

²Neither Ms. Bickerstaff nor Mr. Ford noticed a scar (R 54, 445). The trial judge had difficulty seeing the scar (R 55).

³ Although there were three PSI's introduced at the evidentiary hearing, the one which Mr. Greene would have had at sentencing and the one the prosecutor introduced at sentencing is the one in the present from pages 1124-1132 (ROA 921, 648-666). The supplement to the PSI which was attached to the original PSI and introduced at sentencing was not introduced at the evidentiary hearing (ROA 665-666).

impression that It is my an rehabilitation intensive and treatment program in a controlled environment could help this boy. However, as far as is known, no such environment exists in this State. Α more realistic prognosis is that he will become a fairly permanent or frequent resident of this State's Prisons.

.

(R 1131). This would hardly indicate to an attorney that Mills might have an extreme emotional disturbance. Mills, himself, denied any history of personal or family history of mental or emotional illness (R 1129). Dr. Fumero's report is even less helpful since he diagnosed Mills as Unsocialized Aggressive Reaction to Childhood and Adolescence (R 1132). As the defense expert told the court, this diagnosis in children is the same as antisocial personality in adults which is a condititon that cannot be considered in mitigation. Carter v. State, 576 So.2d 1291, 1292-93 (Fla. 1989). Antisocial personality and brain damage are mutually exclusive (R 140). Dr. Fumero recommended an EEG rule out minimal brain dysfunction. Whether to а psychologist recommends an EEG to rule out minimal brain dysfunction would not raise a red flag. In fact, no EEG has been done to date so even present counsel have disregarded this supposedly critical bit of information.

The behavioral problems Mills <u>might</u> have as outlined in the MMPI are not the type that would scream out "brain damage." As Dr. Dee told the court, not all juveniles have brain damage, they are simply antisocial or disturbed (R 128). Even though the MMPI computer analysis says to "consider psychiatric evaluation" the

succeeding information would not raise a red flag (R 1102). In fact, the analysis states to "interpret profile with caution". That Mills was somewhat tense and restless, tended to give socially approved answers regarding self-control and moral values, may have poor self-concept, has internal conflicts, is immature, egocentric, suggestible and demanding, moderately depressed, touchy, inclined to blame others for his difficulties, has the capacity to maintain adequate social relationships and has a normal male interest pattern for work, hobbies, etc. would hardly point to brain damage. Mr. Greene and the trial judge had information Mills may be antisocial. Further information he "may have significant psychiatric problems" and "is aware of and concerned about asocial attitudes and emotional impulses but unable to control them" was quite obvious from his criminal history. See, Routly v. State, 16 FLW S676, 677 (Fla. October 17, 1991).

The scar was not noticed by any attorney or even the trial judge. Looking at the circumstances of the crime (which have no indicia of mental disturbance), the fact Mills exhibited no signs of mental illness and would deny any emotional or mental history, the negative implications of the juvenile reports, Mill's continued insistence he was innocent, and the life recommendation by the jury, Mr. Greene was not deficient in failing to pursue further mental health evaluations. The trial judge had the information of Mill's possible mental disturbance before him and further information would not have availed Mills. This court has refused to find counsel ineffective in relying on the jury

- 13 -

recommendation and failing to present further mitigating evidence to the judge. <u>See</u>, <u>Buford v. State</u>, ⁴ 492 So.2d 355, 359 (Fla. 1986), citing <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 398 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1981). Mr. Greene was not deficient.

Ms. Bickerstaff testified she felt <u>in hindsight</u> she should have developed mental health issues (R 43). Hindsight vision is not the test for ineffectiveness. <u>Routly v. State</u>, 16 F.L.W. S676, 679 n.4 (Fla. Oct. 17, 1991); <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 754, 761 (Fla. 1990). Neither Mr. Ford (who sat through the trial and briefed Ms. Bickerstaff) nor Mr. Greene indicated Mills had any kind of mental impairment (R 44, 49). At the penalty phase she tried to humanize Mills (R 48). She felt the mental health information would have explained Mills' criminal history (R 60)⁵. The trial judge observed that Ms. Bickerstaff had been very successful in the penalty phase and did an excellent job (R 65). Mill's contention that counsel rendered ineffective assistance during the penalty phase is repudiated by the fact that the jury recommended life. <u>Buford v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 355

⁴ This case was later remanded pursuant to <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393 (1987) and <u>Lockett v. Ohio</u>, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), and Buford was given a life sentence. Ineffective assistance claims were not the basis for reversal.

⁵ Mills was released from the Department of Corrections on March 16, 1979. On May 8, 1979, he stole the murder weapon (a shotgun) during a burglary. On May 9, 1979, he abducted and robbed a convenience store clerk. The jury was precluded from hearing the prior crimes information (ROA Penalty Phase 27). The only prior conviction that was before the jury was the aggravated assault conviction and the state was precluded from presenting testimony regarding details of the assault (ROA Penalty Phase 29), and that Mills was released on March 16th and was on parole at the time of the murder (ROA Penalty Phase 54).

(Fla. 1986), citing <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 398 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1981); Douglas v. State, 373 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1979).

The crux of the penalty phase argument was residual doubt. Ms. Bickerstaff argued that there were no eyewitnesses and many unknowns (ROA Penalty Phase 95). Although she said she did not intend to suggest the jury was mistaken in its verdict, they should consider the weaknesses in the state's case (ROA Penalty Phase 92, 96). She told the jury that the standard for imposing the death penalty was much higher than reasonable doubt (ROA Two critical state witnesses received Penalty Phase 96). immunity, and the most critical witness, Ashley, participated in all the events (ROA Penalty Phase 97). She argued Ashley had every opportunity to fabricate and the jury really didn't know who pulled the trigger (ROA Penalty Phase 98). Counsel argued there were no fingerprints and the jury could consider any doubt even if not reasonable (ROA Penalty Phase 110). Ms. Bickerstaff also argued that the mitigating circumstances were not limited, but the jury could only consider the aggravating circumstances in the statute (ROA Penalty Phase 100). She also made a plea for mercy that the jury not take another life (ROA Penalty Phase 100, 108).

Ms. Bickerstaff argued over objection there were only certain crimes for which the death penalty could be imposed and that since 1972 only a tiny percentage of homicide defendants had been sentenced to death (ROA Penalty Phase 101-103). Death should be imposed "only in the narrowest most clearly defined horrifying cruel beastical killings known to man" (ROA Penalty

- 15 -

Phase 103). She then argued there were only certain classes of murders for which a death sentence could be imposed: a cold, calculated murder, murder of a police or correctional officer, slaying of a child, a torture murder, sex crimes against the victim, a murder for hire "mafioso" murder or the abduction of a convenience store clerk/witness elimination murder (ROA Penalty Phase 104-107). The jury was told to compare this case to the other Florida death sentences to determine whether the crime was so shocking and so horrible and so cruel and vicious and vile that only death can satisfy the ends of justice (ROA Penalty Phase 107). She did not argue that the circumstances of Mills' life were mitigating circumstances, but rather that they showed a potential for rehabilitation (ROA Penalty Phase 109).

The argument was not that the mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravating circumstances but that the circumstances of this crime, residual doubt, the fact this murder could not be classified a death sentence, and mercy required a life recommendation. The jury bought the argument hook, line and sinker and was out only one-half hour before they recommended life (ROA Penalty Phase 123). She argued mercy, the unfairness that Ashley was free when he may have committed the crime and that Mills would be incarcerated at least twenty-five years (ROA Penalty Phase 112). Because the crime was not heinous, atrocious and cruel, death was inappropriate (ROA Penalty Phase 114). Although Ms. Bickerstaff now claims she would have presented mental health mitigation, the focus of her argument and the jury's recommendation was not that there were mitigating

- 16 -

circumstances that outweighed the aggravating circumstances but was an emotional response to an impassioned plea that Mills was innocent and this was not a death penalty case - not because the outweighed the mitigating circumstances aggravating circumstances, but because it did not fit into Ms. Bickerstaff's fact, the trial contrived "classes" of cases. In judge remembered Ms. Bickerstaff could "turn on the tears" (R 453). Ms. Bickerstaff was not deficient in failing to present negative health problems, but rather presented evidence of mental testimony to show Mills was redeemable, had a sister who cared for him and could help him find work, and had obtained a GED It is purely speculative the judge or jury while in prison. would have considered the mental health problems as mitigating. See, Routly v. State, 16 F.L.W. S676, 678 (Fla. Oct. 17, 1991); McCrae v. State, 510 So.2d 874, 879 (Fla. 1987); Blanco v. Wainwright, 507 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1987).

Although Ms. Bickerstaff testified that she had inadequate time to prepare (R 41), the record shows she did not move for a continuance to further investigate Mill's background. If she had, and mental health experts had been appointed, it would have delayed the penalty phase in order for them to conduct adequate This is exactly what Mills did not want since he evaluations. had several other crimes waiting to be tried. If convicted, could be used to aggravate his death these prior crimes sentence.⁶ Only Mills benefitted by the penalty phase taking

^o The trial court found the aggravating circumstance of prior violent felony based on an aggravated assault, but refused to let the jury hear about the burglary and theft of the shotgun and the

place before the state could obtain convictions (which they ultimately did obtain) on his other crimes.

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